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Appendix 3: Information on New Zealand Food Legislation for Specialist Ice Cream Makers

Legislation administered by NZFSA

Dairy Industry Act 1952

The Dairy Industry Act 1952 consolidates certain enactments relating to the inspection of dairies, and the manufacture, sale and export of dairy produce.

The Dairy Industry Act 1952 includes:

· the appointment and power of inspectors;

· inspection and sanitation;

· sale and exportation of dairy produce;

· milk and cream for manufacture;

· export of dairy produce.

Dairy Industry Regulations 1990

The Dairy Industry Regulations 1990 are empowered under the Dairy Industry Act 1952, and supersede all earlier regulations under the same Act (the Milk Production and Supply Regulations 1973, the Dairy Industry Regulations 1977, the Milk Stations Regulations 1979 and the Dairy Factories (Licensing) Regulations 1936).

The Dairy Industry (Fees) Regulations 1990 prescribe the rates for fees that must be paid when NZFSA is carrying out its activities, in order to recover the costs.

The Dairy Industry Regulations 1990 includes:

· product safety management through Product Safety Programmes;

· registration of premises;

· alteration of registered premises and changes to equipment;

· laboratory registration;

· truth of labelling (other aspects of quality are excluded);

· condemnation of dairy produce;

· offences and penalties.

Those who have responsibilities in these areas must specify the standards for achieving the regulatory outcomes.  Standards must be approved by NZFSA and are mandatory when included in a product safety programme.

Inspection, testing and audit services are contestable but must meet specified standards.

NZFSA may issue circulars to set out general criteria as to how the outcomes in the Dairy Industry Regulations 1990 may be achieved.  Circulars can be used to approve technical standards.

NZFSA administers the Dairy Industry Regulations 1990 by approving standards and Product Safety Programmes, registering premises, recognising inspection, testing and audit services, verifying compliance and certifying products.

Persons who:

· produce milk or cream;

· transport or store milk, cream or dairy products;

· sell or export milk, cream or other dairy products intended for human consumption (including raw milk and cream); 

· must take all reasonably practicable steps to ensure that the milk, cream and dairy products are safe and stay safe.

Dairy products are required to be manufactured and stored in registered premises only.

Production of milk and cream, and the manufacture, transport and storage of dairy products must take place in accordance with an approved Product Safety Programme.

Note: the terms “manufacture” and “store” are used with the meaning given in the Dairy Industry Regulations 1990.

Food Act 1981 (as amended 1996)

In New Zealand, food is regulated under the Food Act 1981 and delegated legislation under that Act.  The Food Act 1981:

· defines relevant terms, such as food and sale;

· outlines prohibitions on sale (including unfit food);

· prohibits misleading labelling and advertising;

· provides powers of enforcement and offences; and

· contains provisions to make regulations and food standards.

The Dietary Supplements Regulations 1985, Food (Safety) Regulations 2002 and New Zealand food standards are made under the Food Act 1981.  Where relevant to cheese premises these regulations and standards are discussed below.  The Food Regulations 1984 were revoked on 20 December 2002.

Food (Safety) Regulations 2002

These regulations came into force on 20 December 2002 when the New Zealand Food Regulations 1984 were revoked.  These regulations cover the regulations deemed important for New Zealand but not covered by the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code.  

New Zealand Food Standard 2001 
In December 1995, Australian and New Zealand governments signed the Agreement Between the Government of New Zealand and the Government of Australia Establishing a System for the Development of Joint Food Standards (the “Food Standards Treaty”).  The Food Standards Treaty established the joint food standards setting system and came into force on 1 July 1996.

The underlying aims of the joint system are to consider the needs of both New Zealand and Australia, to protect the public health of both countries, and reduce unnecessary barriers to trade.  The outcome of the Food Standards Treaty is a joint Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code based on a review of the Australian Food Standards Code, which was undertaken by ANZFA (now Food Standards Australia New Zealand (FSANZ)) in consultation with a number of stakeholders.

A number of areas are outside the scope of the joint system and are covered under the New Zealand food standards setting process.  These are:

· maximum residue limits of agricultural compounds in food;

· food hygiene and food safety provisions;

· export requirements relating to third country trade; and

· dietary supplements (likely to be covered under future healthcare and therapeutic products legislation).

The New Zealand Food Standard 2001 recognises the Australian Food Standards Code and the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code as alternative food standards in New Zealand (manufacturers may choose between the New Zealand Food Regulations 1984, the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code or the Australian Food Standards Code).
Australian Food Standards Code 

Part A “General Standards” of the Australian Food Standards Code outlines the labelling requirements.

Part H “Milk and other Dairy Products”, H9 “Cheese and Cheese Products” of the Australian Food Standards Code outlines the compositional, microbiological and processing requirements.

The processing requirements are as follows:

“(d)
Milk and milk products used for cheese production shall –

(i)
be heat treated by being held at a temperature of not less than 72°C for a period of not less than 15 seconds, or at a temperature and for a period equivalent thereto in phosphatase destruction;

(ii)
be subjected to a minimum heat treatment at a temperature of 62°C for a period of not less than 15 seconds; or

(iii)
if they are specified in Column 1 of the table (this states “Milk and milk products used to produce Gruyer, Sbrinz or Emmental cheese only”) to this subclause, be produced and processed using a method that:

(A)
ensures that the cheese produced achieves an equivalent level of safety protection as cheese prepared from milk or milk products that have been heat treated in accordance with (1)(d)(i); and

(B)
is set out in legislation or documentation listed in Column 2 of the Table to this subclause.  (Column 2 states: “The Ordinance on Quality Assurance in the Dairy Industry of the Swiss Federal Council of 18 October 1995”).

(e)
Milk and milk products used for cheese production shall be taken to have been adequately heat treated in accordance with paragraph (d)(i) of this clause if they do not exhibit a phosphatase activity in excess of that required to give a reading of 10ug/mL of p-nitrophenol when tested by the current standard method in AS 2300, Methods of Chemical and Physical Testing for the Dairy Industry.

(f)
Cheese prepared from milk and milk products subjected to a minimum heat treatment in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (d)(ii) of this clause shall –

(i)
be labelled, in standard type of 3mm, with the date of manufacture;

(ii)
not be sold unless it has been stored at a temperature of not less than 2°C for a period of 90 days from the date of manufacturer of the cheese;

(iii)
be free from Listeria monocytogenes in 25g of the food when examined by the method prescribed by clause(22) of this Standard.

Subparagraph (i) of this paragraph (f) does not apply to a package of cheese obtained from cheese that has been stored in accordance with subparagraph (ii) thereof.”

Joint Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code (FSC)

A number of areas are outside the scope of the joint system and are covered under the New Zealand food standards setting process. These are:

· maximum residue limits of agricultural compounds in food;

· food hygiene and food safety provisions;

· export requirements relating to third country trade;

· dietary supplements (likely to be covered under future healthcare and therapeutic products legislation).

The joint Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code was adopted in November 2000 and it operated alongside existing New Zealand and Australian food standards for two years.  On 20 December 2002 the joint Food Standards Code became the sole Food Standards Code for Australia and New Zealand.

General labelling requirements are covered in Part 1.2, “Labelling and other Information Requirements”, of the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code.  Part 2.5, “Dairy Products” covers dairy products, and Standard 2.5.6, “Ice Cream” covers ice cream.  Again composition is covered, however processing is out of the scope of the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code.  The Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code states, “For New Zealand purposes, processing requirements for milk and milk products are regulated under the Dairy Industry Act 1952 and the Food Act 1981”. 

Microbiological limits have been developed for various foods but not ice cream.  

Microbiological guidelines are also being developed.  These will likely eventually replace the Microbiological Reference Criteria (Ministry of Health 1985), and will have the same standing/use.

Additionally, under the Trans-Tasman Mutual Recognition Act 1997 (TTMRA) food produced in New Zealand or imported into New Zealand that meets New Zealand’s legal requirements, may also be sold in Australia, and vice versa.  There are some exceptions.  For example, high-risk foods listed in either country require certification or testing before being permitted entry (e.g. peanuts, soft cheeses, molluscs).

The New Zealand (Mandatory) Food Standard 1997 (Prescribed Foods) lists high-risk foods and their risks.  The Food Act 1981 and Food Regulations 1984 require persons who import, manufacture, store, transport, prepare for sale or sell any food to provide appropriate evidence that the risks associated with a Prescribed Food have been controlled.  There is a managed food rule for ice cream – ref. 

The New Zealand (Maximum Residue Limits of Agricultural Compounds) Mandatory Food Standard 1999 sets Maximum Residue Limits (MRLs) for agricultural compounds such as pesticides and animal remedies.  This standard duplicates (with some exceptions) provisions for pesticides and animal remedies in regulation 257 of the Food Regulations 1984.  Regulation 257 Incidental constituents will eventually be repealed.  Meanwhile, if there is any conflict between regulation 257 and the New Zealand (Maximum Residue Limits of Agricultural Compounds) Mandatory Food Standard 1999, the standard will prevail.

The New Zealand (Mandatory) Food Standard 1997 (Prescribed Foods)
The New Zealand (Mandatory) Food Standard 1997 (Prescribed Foods) lists high-risk foods and their risks.  The Food Act 1981 and Food (Safety) Regulations 2002 require persons who import, manufacture, store, transport, prepare for sale, or sell any food to provide appropriate evidence that the risks associated with a prescribed food have been controlled.  

The New Zealand (Maximum Residue Limits of Agricultural Compounds) Mandatory Food Standard 1999
The New Zealand (Maximum Residue Limits of Agricultural Compounds) Mandatory Food Standard 1999 sets Maximum Residue Limits (MRLs) for agricultural compounds such as pesticides and animal remedies.  

Other legislation 

The sale or export of dairy products in New Zealand is also subject to the Health Act 1956, the Food Act 1981, any regulations made under those Acts, and the Dairy Industry (Food Act 1981) Exemption Order 1996.

In particular, manufacturers of dairy products for sale in New Zealand must, where necessary, comply with the Food Hygiene Regulations 1974 and appropriate food standards (i.e. the joint Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code and the Food Safety Regulations 2002).  Nothing in the Dairy Industry Regulations 1990 limits or affects the application of these requirements.

New Zealand Food Standard 2001 
In December 1995, the Australian and New Zealand Governments signed the Agreement between the Government of New Zealand and the Government of Australia Establishing a System for the Development of Joint Food Standards (the “Food Standards Treaty”).  The Food Standards Treaty established the joint food standards setting system and came into force on 1 July 1996.

The underlying aims of the joint system are to consider the needs of both New Zealand and Australia, to protect the public health of both countries and reduce unnecessary barriers to trade.  The outcome of the Food Standards Treaty is a joint Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code (Joint Food Code) based on a review of the Australian Food Standards Code, which was undertaken by FSANZ (formerly ANZFA) in consultation with a number of stakeholders.

The New Zealand Food Standard 2001 recognises the Australian Food Standards Code and the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code as alternative food standards in New Zealand (manufacturers may choose between the New Zealand Food Regulations 1984, the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code or the Australian Food Standards Code).  
Other legislation relevant to food for sale

The Fair Trading Act 1986

The Fair Trading Act 1986 prohibits false or misleading representation of goods or services.  This covers some truth of labelling issues and weights and measures.  The Commerce Commission publishes a guide on food labelling.  Copies are available from the Wellington Office (04 498 0929) (website: http://www.comcom.govt.nz).

The Food Hygiene Regulations 1974
The Food Hygiene Regulations 1974 set food handling requirements, including registration of food premises.  These regulations are enforced by local authorities.  Food manufacturers may choose voluntarily to register an approved Programme with the Ministry of Health and be exempted from registration of premises under the Food Hygiene Regulations 1974.  In the future, a new food safety regime will replace the Food Hygiene Regulations 1974.

Medicines Act 1981

The Medicines Act 1981 sets requirements for medicines and related products.  This Act, and regulations made under it, includes a definition for therapeutic purpose which requires that a product cannot be distributed for a therapeutic purpose without the consent of the Minister of Health (this prevents false therapeutic claims being made on food products).

Animal Products Act 1999/Meat Act 1981

Administered by Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (MAF) [website: http://www.maf.govt.nz]

Dairy Industry Act 1952
Administered by New Zealand Food Safety Authority (www.nzfsa.govt.nz)

Agricultural Compounds and Veterinary Medicines Act 1997
Administered by Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (MAF) [website: http://www.maf.govt.nz]

Hazardous Substances and New Organisms (HSNO) Act 1996
Administered by Environmental Risk Management Authority (ERMA) [website: http://www.erma.govt.nz or http://www.hsno.govt.nz]

Purchasing or viewing a copy of New Zealand food legislation

For viewing at:

Ministry of Health 133 Molesworth Street, Wellington

For purchase from:

Bennetts, Commerce House, 360 Queen Street, Auckland.  Ph (09) 377 3496 Fax (09) 377 3497.

Whitcoulls, Shop 42 Centre Place, PO Box 928, Hamilton.  Ph (07) 839 6305 Fax (07) 834 3520.

Bennetts on Broadway, PO Box 138, Palmerston North.  Ph (06) 358 3009 Fax (06) 358 2836.

Bennetts Government Bookshop, PO Box 5334, Wellington.  Ph (04) 499 3433 Fax (04) 499 3375.

Whitcoulls Cashel Street, Private Bag, Christchurch.  Ph (03) 379 7142 Fax (03) 377 2529.

Whitcoulls George Street, PO Box 1104, Dunedin.  Ph (03) 477 8294 Fax (03) 477 7869.

The Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code is available for viewing at:

Ministry of Health 133 Molesworth Street, Wellington

FSANZ (formerly ANZFA) website: http://www.foodstandards.gov.au
Both codes may be purchased from:

The Information Officer, FSANZ (formerly ANZFA), PO Box 10‑559, The Terrace, Wellington.  Ph (04) 473 9942, Fax (04) 473 9855.
























































































